1989

Gene Brice, Willis Hall, Joseph R. May, Douglas Quayle, J. Rolfe Tuddenham, and Gordon Zilles, on behalf of themselves for the benefit of Cache Valley Dairy Association and for all members and/or Holders of Certificate of Interest in Cache Valley Dairy Association vs. Cache Valley Dairy Association, a Utah agricultural cooperative, Intermountain Milk Producers Association; a Utah Agricultural Cooperative; Vernon Bankhead; Randall Bradshaw, Don C. Nye; Frank P. Olsen; Wilford B. Meek; Lathair Peterson; Rulon King; Larry Pitcher; Lynn Mickel; Robert Haworth; Jeff Hyde; Evan Skinner; Robert Jackson; and William

Recommended Citation

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT

The jurisdiction of the Court is timely invoked pursuant to Rule 3(a), Rules of the Utah Supreme Court, from the final order of District Judge VeNoy Christoffersen dismissing Plaintiffs' Complaint. T. R. at 586-588, Appendix Document K. The order was entered on July 23, 1987, based upon a memorandum decision rendered June 29, 1987. T. R. at 552-554, Appendix Document J.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This case concerns the procedures used in 1985-86 to combine two corporate agricultural cooperatives, Cache Valley Dairy Association (CVDA) and Intermountain Milk Producers' Association (IMPA).

The Plaintiffs are all directors, members and holders of certificates of interest in CVDA. They also sought certification as representatives of a class of all members and certificate holders. Plaintiffs also sought to act derivatively for CVDA. The Defendants are the two cooperatives, other directors of CVDA and legal counsel.

The issues were joined upon both parties' presentation of motions for partial summary judgment, Defendants' motion to dismiss and Plaintiffs' motion for class certification. Significant facts were undisputed. The court rendered a memorandum decision generally determining the legal issues in favor of the Defendants. Pursuant thereto, Plaintiffs' Complaint was ordered dismissed and class certification was denied. Plaintiffs appealed to this Court.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

I. The statutory procedures set forth in Sections 3-1-30 et seq. are legal prerequisites to any combination of Utah agricultural cooperatives.

II. Alternatively, if Section 3-1-30 et seq. is not mandatory, the Defendants were still obligated to follow those procedures by their use of a Notice and Summary and because the CVDA Board of Directors only approved a combination pursuant to

Section 3-1-30 et seq.

III. Alternatively, if Defendants are not required to follow Section 3-1-30 et seq., then Defendants were required to follow the statutory procedures for corporations desiring to merge, consolidate or transfer all assets not in the regular course of business.

IV. Alternatively, if Defendants are not required to follow the statutes governing combinations of agricultural cooperatives or even general corporate combinations, then Defendants were required to follow the common law.

V. A trial court cannot render a summary decision finding forms of relief to be "inequitable" when there are material, contested issues of fact set forth in affidavits before it relating to that form of relief.

VI. The trial court erred in failing to elucidate the legal and factual decisions it made by entering Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law or at least specifying the basis for its ruling.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action brought by six individuals, Gene Brice, Willis Hall, Joseph R. May, Douglas Quayle, J. Rolfe Tuddenham and Gordon Zilles, who are each a member and holder of certificates of interest as well as being an elected director of CVDA. The Plaintiffs also sought certification to act as class representatives of all members and holders of certificates of interest in CVDA. The Plaintiffs also sought to act derivatively

for CVDA. CVDA is a corporate agricultural cooperative pursuant to Title 3, U.C.A. 1953. Verified Complaint, T. R. at 1-26, Appendix Document I.

This action challenges the method and legal basis used to combine CVDA with Intermountain Milk Producers Association (IMPA), another corporate agricultural cooperative. Named as Defendants in the action were CVDA, IMPA, other directors of CVDA and legal counsel along with various John Does. Id.

The Complaint alleged that the combination of CVDA and IMPA was required to follow the statutory procedures set forth in Section 3-1-30 et seq. Further, that the statutory requirements were mandatory not permissive or alternative to other procedures. Id. Further that Defendants wholly failed to follow the statutory procedures requisite to a valid combination. Id.

Defendants admitted that the statutory procedures of Section 3-1-30 et seq. were not followed. T. R. at 197-198. Defendants urged, however, that the combination of the two cooperatives was by consolidation or transfer of all assets, therefore the procedures of Section 3-1-30 were not required. T. R. at 199-200.

Plaintiffs countered that the Notice sent to all members specifically stated that the combination was to be pursuant to Section 3-1-30 et seq.:

The Board of Directors of Cache Valley Dairy Association has adopted a Resolution directing that a Plan of Merger (Consolidation) under Section 3-1-30 et. seq., Utah Code Annotated, be submitted to a vote of the members of Cache Valley Dairy

Association at a special meeting of members to be held at 10:30 o'clock a.m. on Monday, December 16, 1985, at the Smithfield Armory, 10 East Center Street, Smithfield, Utah.

T. R. at 26, Appendix Document A.

The Board of Directors of CVDA never approved any other form or type of combination. Indeed there were no Board meetings from December 16, 1985, to December of 1986, nor did the board ever approve any other form of combination. T. R. at 380.

Alternatively, the Plaintiffs argued that if Section 3-1-30 et seq. is not mandatory, that the CVDA/IMPA combination would have to follow corporation procedures for merger, consolidation or transfer of all assets.

The Plaintiffs stated their claims individually, derivatively and as a class alleging that there was no valid transfer of assets to IMPA. The acts of the Defendants were also alleged to be negligent and cause for rescission of liens of encumbrances on CVDA property. Verified Complaint, T. R. at 1-26, Appendix Document I.

The Defendants filed a motion to dismiss alleging inconsistent causes of action because the complaint requested both direct and derivative relief in addition to money damages and rescission. T. R. at 91. Plaintiffs responded to that motion. T. R. at 117. Apparently, the court's final order is not based upon this motion or the grounds stated therein.

The Plaintiffs filed a motion for partial summary judgment on the central issue alleging that Defendants were required to follow the statutory procedures set out in Section 3-1-30 et seq.

T. R. at 48. Alternatively, the Plaintiffs urged that the Defendants were estopped from using any other procedure because of the language of the Notice sent. Id. Alternatively, Defendants had to follow either the corporate procedures for merger, consolidation or transfer of all assets or the common law. Id.

The Defendants responded to Plaintiffs' motion with a cross motion for summary judgment alleging there is no statutory procedure required other than board approval. T. R. at 247.

The court entered a memorandum decision addressing all the motions collectively. T. R. at 552. The decision held a class action inappropriate because "equity holders, producers, directors may have different interests". Id. The decision found Defendants had failed to follow the statutory procedures for merger of agricultural cooperatives. Further, that the Notice was defective if a merger or consolidation of agricultural cooperatives was contemplated. However, the court found that the statutory procedures were not an exclusive alternative for combination of agricultural cooperatives. Id.

The decision went on to hold that "there can be no recession (sic) as there are many other entities, people involved, that have so changed their position in reliance" that it would be inequitable. Id. The court found that Plaintiffs might have a claim for monetary damages for the transfer of assets but made no holding thereon. Id.

Plaintiffs requested the trial court to enter findings of

fact and conclusions of law so as to clarify the rulings. T. R. at 555. The court signed the order presented by Defendants' counsel without the clarifications requested. The order fails in significant part to even repeat the critical rulings of law rendered in the memorandum decision. Compare T. R. at 552 with T. R. at 586.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

There was no evidentiary hearing held in this matter so the facts must be gleaned from the verified complaint of the Plaintiffs and the facts proven by the affidavits of Plaintiffs and Defendants. The trial court failed to provide a record of what it determined material and undisputed, however, in significant part the facts are undisputed.

Plaintiffs' motion for partial summary judgment included a statement of relevant facts broken into twelve separate statements with specific reference to the verified complaint as support for the same. Defendants responded to that statement by admitting or clarifying each such statement. In the absence of a better record by the trial court, the combination of this interchange provides the Court with the undisputed facts. T. R. at 52-54, 197-199, Appendix Document L.

Plaintiffs' No. 1:

That Plaintiffs are directors, members, former members and/or equity holders of more than \$50.00 in CVDA. Verified Complaint at 3, 5 and 6.

Defendants' Response to No. 1:

Defendants agree that each plaintiff was at one time either a director, member, former member, or equity holder of more than \$50.00 in CVDA.

Plaintiffs' No. 2:

That CVDA and IMPA are both Utah Agricultural Cooperative Associations (corporations) organized and operated under Title 3, U.C.A. Verified Complaint at 1 and 7.

Defendants' Response to No. 2:

Defendants admit that CVDA and IMPA are Utah agricultural cooperative associations organized and operated under Title 3, Utah Code Annotated.

Plaintiffs' No. 3:

That the Board of Directors of CVDA did not approve at any time a plan of merger as required by Section 3-1-31. Verified Complaint at 25.

Defendants' Response to No. 3:

Defendants admit that the Board of Directors of CVDA did not approve at any time a plan of merger as contemplated by Utah Code Ann. Section 3-1-31. In fact, no attempt was made to consummate a merger per Sections 3-1-30 through 41 of Utah Code Annotated.

Plaintiffs' No. 4:

That the Notice attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true copy of the Notice used to advertise a meeting to consider the merger of CVDA into IMPA. Verified Complaint at 26.

NOTICE TO MEMBERS OF CACHE VALLEY DAIRY ASSOCIATION

The Board of Directors of Cache Valley Dairy Association has adopted a Resolution directing that a

Plan of Merger (Consolidation) under Section 3-1-30 et. seq., Utah Code Annotated, be submitted to a vote of the members of the Cache Valley Dairy Association at a special meeting of members to be held at 10:30 o'clock a.m. on Monday, December 16, 1985, at the Smithfield Armory, 10 East Center Street, Smithfield, Utah.

The principal purpose of the meeting is to consider and vote upon the Plan of Merger (Consolidation) of Cache Valley Dairy Association, Western General Dairies, Inc., Star Valley Producers, Inc., and Lake Mead Cooperative Association into Intermountain Milk Producers Association.

A summary of the Plan of Merger (Consolidation) is enclosed with this Notice. A full copy of the plan shall be furnished to any member upon request without charge. Requests should be made to Intermountain Milk Producers Association, 195 West 7200 South, Midvale, UT 84047.

Passage of this plan will require a simple majority of the members present at the meeting and voting thereon.

By order of the President as of this 25th day of November, 1985.

CACHE VALLEY DAIRY ASSOCIATION

By /s/ Wm. L. Lindley
President

SUMMARY OF PLAN OF MERGER (CONSOLIDATION)

1. Cache Valley Dairy Association, Western General Dairies, Inc., Lake Mead Cooperative Association and Star Valley Producers, Inc., ("Consolidating Cooperatives") propose to consolidate their assets into Intermountain Milk Producers Association, formed under Title 3, Utah Code Annotated, as an agricultural cooperative association ("IMPA").

2. The terms and conditions are: 1) the Consolidating Cooperatives will transfer to IMPA all of their assets at book value in exchange for the promise by IMPA to assume all liabilities of said cooperatives; b) All membership agreements held by said cooperatives shall be assigned to and assumed by IMPA in accordance with their terms; c) all milk base held by members shall become milk base of IMPA on a pound-for-pound

basis subject to the same rules, regulations and agreements in effect on the day the plan is adopted; d) all equities held by members of said cooperatives shall become equities of IMPA on a dollar-for-dollar basis subject to existing rules, regulations and agreements; f) all agreements, contracts, claims and obligations whatsoever, of said cooperatives shall be assumed by IMPA as though originally held by IMPA; g) All employees employed by said cooperatives as of the date of approval of the plan shall become employees of IMPA and all retirement plans, vacation accruals or other employee benefits shall be assumed by IMPA; and h) all other provisions of the Agreement of Merger (Consolidation).

3. The surviving corporation, IMPA, shall be governed by the Utah Uniform Agricultural Cooperative Association Act.

4. No changes will be required in the Articles of Incorporation of IMPA.

5. The eighteen (18) board members of IMPA shall establish districts which shall include all areas in which IMPA members reside and shall arrange for the election of directors from said districts at the fall 1986 district meetings for seating at the annual meeting of IMPA in January 1987.

6. The Presidents and Secretaries of the respective Consolidating Cooperatives shall execute such documents as are necessary to carry out the plan.

Defendants' Response to No. 4:

Defendants admit that the notice attached to plaintiffs' memo as Exhibit A is a true copy of the notice used to advertise a meeting to consider the transaction that had been under consideration since June of 1984. Defendants dispute plaintiffs' characterization that the meeting was to consider a "merger" of CVDA into IMPA.

Plaintiffs' No. 5:

That said notice states that the merger is to be completed in accordance with Section 3-1-30 et seq. Verified Complaint at 27.

Defendants' Response to No. 5:

Defendants dispute that the notice "states that the merger is to be contemplated in accordance with Section 3-1-30, et seq." The notice does refer to Section 3-1-30. However, a summary of the plan is attached to the notice, and paragraph 2 of the summary of the plan clearly sets forth the nature of the transaction, i.e., a transfer of assets, an assignment of liabilities, etc.

Plaintiffs' No. 6:

That in clear violation of Section 3-1-33, holders of certificates of interest (Equity Holders) in CVDA of \$50.00 or more were not provided with any notice whatsoever of a merger or of any meeting or specifically of the CVDA special meeting of members held on December 16, 1985, to consider the IMPA plan of merger. Verified Complaint at 28.

Defendants' Response to No. 6:

Defendants admit that equity holders were not given notice. Defendants dispute that there is any requirement to give equity holders notice of the contemplated transaction. Defendants dispute that equity holders had any right to vote.

Plaintiffs' No. 7:

That at the said special meeting Equity Holders of \$50.00 or more were not allowed to vote on the plan of merger. Verified Complaint at 29.

Defendants' Response to No. 7:

Defendants admit that at the meeting equity holders were not allowed to vote.

Plaintiffs' No. 8:

That at the said special meeting, no voting was allowed by delegate or proxy. Verified Complaint at 30.

Defendants' Response to No. 8:

Defendants admit that at the meeting no voting was allowed by delegate or proxy.

Plaintiffs' No. 9:

That Defendant CVDA and Defendant IMPA have refused to acknowledge dissenter's rights pursuant to Section 3-1-39. Verified Complaint at 32.

Defendants' Response to No. 9:

Defendants admit that there has been no award of dissenter's rights pursuant to Section 3-1-39. However, no one, including these plaintiffs, has asserted dissenter's rights pursuant to Section 3-1-39.

Plaintiffs No. 10:

There have been no Articles of Merger approved or even presented to the Board of Directors of CVDA nor have they been filed with the Secretary of State nor has a Certificate of Merger been obtained. Verified Complaint at 34.

Defendants' Response to No. 10:

Defendants admit that there have been no articles of merger approved or presented to the Board of Directors of CVD, nor filed with the Secretary of State, nor has the Certificate of Merger been obtained.

Plaintiffs' No. 11:

That all the assets and goodwill of CVDA have been purportedly assigned to IMPA. Verified Complaint at 36.

Defendants' Response to No. 11:

Defendants admit that all the assets and goodwill of CVDA have been assigned to IMPA.

Plaintiffs' No. 12:

That IMPA has appropriated CVDA's plants, personnel and labels to its own use. IMPA has treated this property in every way as its own since in or about December 1985. Verified Complaint at 37.

Defendants' Response to No. 12:

Defendants admit that all the assets and goodwill of CVDA have been assigned to IMPA, and that IMPA has treated this property in every way as property that has been assigned to IMPA. Defendants do not agree with plaintiffs argumentative characterization that IMPA has "appropriated CVDA's assets".

Subsequently, Defendant tendered a document they labeled as being "Defendants' Statement of Undisputed Facts" numbering the same in Paragraphs 1 through 39. T. R. at 140-151. Plaintiffs responded admitting, denying and/or clarifying the same with Plaintiffs' Affidavits. This provided some additional facts on which the trial court could base its decision. T. R. at 227-238. The Defendants' Statement and Plaintiffs' Response with the interchange as to each fact is included in its entirety in the Appendix as Document L.

The Plaintiffs submitted memoranda in support of their motions for partial summary judgment and class certification. T.

R. at 48, 104. The Defendants moved to dismiss Plaintiffs' complaint and alternatively for summary judgment. T. R. at 91, 177, 224. Each side opposed the other's motions. A hearing was held and the various motions were argued.

Subsequently, on June 29, 1987, the trial court rendered a memorandum decision. T. R. at 552. The Defendants tendered a proposed order to the court to which Plaintiffs duly objected. T. R. at 555. The basis of the objection was the failure to provide findings of fact and conclusions of law or clarification regarding the general findings, legal conclusions, denial of class certification and whether the decision was based upon the Defendants' motion to dismiss or for summary judgment. Id. Over Plaintiffs' objections the court entered the order as presented. T. R. at 586.

It is from this Order that the Plaintiffs appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

I. The statutory procedures set forth in Sections 3-1-30 et seq. are legal prerequisites to any combination of Utah agricultural cooperatives.

The legislative enactment, Section 3-1-30 et seq., is exclusive and mandatory setting all authority given agricultural cooperatives to combine whether that be by merger, consolidation or transfer of assets.

II. Alternatively, if Section 3-1-30 et seq. is not mandatory, the Defendants were still obligated to follow those procedures by their use of a Notice and Summary and because the

CVDA Board of Directors only approved a combination pursuant to Section 3-1-30 et seq.

The factual circumstances herein estop the Defendants from anything other than a Section 3-1-30 combination. The CVDA Board never approved any other type of combination.

III. Alternatively, if Defendants are not required to follow Section 3-1-30 et seq., then Defendants were required to follow the statutory procedures for corporations desiring to merge, consolidate or transfer all assets not in the regular course of business.

If Section 3-1-30 et seq. is not the exclusive procedure, then Defendants would be required to follow the similar statutory procedures for business or non-profit corporations. The Defendants cannot make new law. The Defendants did not follow those procedures either.

IV. Alternatively, if Defendants are not required to follow the statutes governing combinations of agricultural cooperatives or even general corporate combinations, then Defendants were required to follow the common law.

The common law in the absence of statutory modification requires unanimous consent from stockholders for merger, consolidation or transfer of all assets. No such consent was obtained by Defendants.

V. A trial court cannot render a summary decision finding forms of relief to be "inequitable" when there are material, contested issues of fact set forth in affidavits before it

relating to that form or relief.

The trial record indicates significant factual disputes relative to the "equity" of various remedies. The court's summary decision was in the face of disputed facts and premature.

VI. The trial court erred in failing to elucidate the legal and factual decisions it made by entering findings of fact and conclusions of law or at least specifying the basis for its ruling.

There is no adequate basis for the trial court rulings particularly with respect to Plaintiffs' motion for class certification.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE STATUTORY PROCEDURES SET FORTH IN SECTION 3-1-30 ET SEQ. ARE LEGAL PREREQUISITES TO ANY COMBINATION OF UTAH AGRICULTURAL COOPERATIVES.

CVDA and IMPA are both specialized corporations known as agricultural cooperative associations pursuant to Section 3-1-1, et seq. U.C.A. 1953. Sections 1-29 of Title 3 were adopted in 1937. In a 1965 Act, Sections 30-41 were added to the original sections with an avowed purpose:

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