1989

Gene Brice, Willis Hall, Joseph R. May, Douglas Quayle, Thedford Roper, J. Rolfe Tuddenham and Gordon Zilles v. Cache Valley Dairy Association :  
Brief of Respondents

Utah Court of Appeals

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

#### ARGUMENT

##### Point I

THE ORDER OF THE TRIAL COURT AND THE MEMORANDUM DECISION ON WHICH IT IS BASED DO NOT CONSTITUTE A FINAL ORDER FROM WHICH AN APPEAL MAY BE TAKEN

Rule 3 of the Rules of the Utah Supreme Court ("R. Utah S. Ct.") provides that "An appeal may be taken from a district court to the Supreme Court from all final orders and judgments, except as otherwise provided by law . . . ." (Emphasis added.)

In multiple party litigation, for example, a judgment which fully decides the issues among some but less than all of the parties is not a final judgment. See Crosland v. Peck, 59 Utah Adv. Rep. 3 (1987); Tippets v. Page Petroleum, Inc., 59 Utah Adv. Rep. 4 (1987); Neider v. State, 665 P.2d 1306 (Utah 1983); Kennedy v. New Era Industries, Inc., 600 P.2d 534 (Utah 1979).

Similarly, when a plaintiff asserts several claims and the trial court renders judgment with respect to some but not all of such claims, the judgment is not final and is therefore not appealable. See Salt Lake City Corp. v. Layton, 600 P.2d 538 (Utah 1979).

In the Layton case defendants had built a fence across a street, claiming that the city had abandoned legal title to the street. The city sought an injunction compelling the defendants to remove the fence and also alleged unjust enrichment and trespass for which the city sought damages and punitive damages. The trial court issued the injunction but reserved action on the claims for damages and punitive damages. Defendants appealed from the order granting the injunction, but the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal because the order of the trial court was not a final order. The court stated:

As a general rule an appeal may be taken to this Court only from a final order or judgment. . . . A judgment is final when it ends the controversy between the parties litigant. . . . In J.B. & R.E. Walker, Inc. v. Thayn, 17 Utah 2d 120, 405 P.2d 342 (1965), this Court held that a judgment which disposes of fewer than all of the causes of action alleged in the plaintiff's complaint is not a final judgment from which an appeal may be taken. In the instant case the order entered by the trial court clearly was not a final order. The claims with respect to unjust enrichment and trespass remain alive.

600 P.2d at 539-540 (Citations omitted). Accord, South Shores Concession, Inc. v. State, 600 P.2d 550 (Utah 1979) (trial court granted plaintiff an injunction but issues were still pending regarding a declaratory judgment also sought by plaintiff; the issuing of the injunction was not a final order or judgment that could be appealed); J. B & R. E. Walker, Inc. v. Thayn, 405 P.2d 342 (Utah 1965) (trial court entered a written judgment terminating a lease, as requested by plaintiffs, but issues regarding plaintiffs' additional claims for rentals and damages

were still pending; the judgment terminating the lease was not a final judgment and therefore was not appealable).

The policies underlying the final judgment rule were articulated by Justice Stewart in the Kennedy case:

Article VIII, § 9 of the Utah Constitution [since repealed] and Rule 72(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure [now Rule 3 of the R. Utah S. Ct.], provide for appeals to this Court from all final orders and judgments from district court. The policy underlying these provisions is sound. In the first place, it promotes judicial economy by preventing piecemeal appeals in the same litigation to this Court. At least some appeals would ultimately never be taken, since the party aggrieved by an interlocutory order may, in the end, prevail. Also, expense to litigants and the judiciary is reduced by the general requirement that all issues be appealed in one procedure. Further, the final judgment rule prevents this Court from intermeddling in the business of the trial courts before they have had opportunity to rectify some of their own possible misjudgments and before they have completed the trial. Finally, the final judgment rule prevents the interminable protraction of lawsuits. In a day when the case load of this Court has risen astronomically and seriously strains our resources, there is even additional reason for applying the final judgment rule.

600 P.2d at 535.

In the instant case the trial court's order dismissing the plaintiffs' claims stated that it is "without prejudice to Plaintiffs' right to amend the complaint to assert such claims as Plaintiffs may have for monetary damages . . . ." Generally an order or judgment issued "without prejudice" is not a final decision from which an appeal may be taken. See Tracy v. University of Utah Hospital, 619 P.2d 340 (Utah 1980), which noted that an earlier appeal in that same case had been dismissed

by the Supreme Court because the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to intervene as a party plaintiff was without prejudice.

In Bowles v. State, 652 P.2d 1345 (Utah 1982), the Utah Supreme Court dealt with those limited circumstances in which a dismissal without prejudice can be deemed a final order or judgment which would authorize an appeal.

In the Bowles case, plaintiffs sought to have certain deeds they had executed and delivered to the State of Utah declared void because of misrepresentations claimed to have been made by the State's agent. The court dismissed the suit without prejudice, ruling that under Utah Code Ann. § 63-30-10(6) [now § 63-30-10(f)] governmental immunity from suit is not waived when the claim arises out of a misrepresentation by a governmental employee.

Plaintiffs filed a notice of appeal, and the State moved to dismiss the appeal on the grounds that an order of dismissal without prejudice is not a final order from which an appeal lies. The Utah Supreme Court noted that "The narrow question of finality of a dismissal without prejudice has never been specifically addressed by this court." The court held that under the facts of that case the notice of dismissal, even though it was without prejudice, did constitute a final and, therefore, appealable order. The court quoted from an earlier case, Winnovich v. Emery, 33 Utah 345, 93 P. 988 (1908):

The test of finality for the purpose of an appeal, therefore, is not necessarily whether the whole

matter involved in the action is concluded, but whether the particular proceeding or action is terminated by the judgment. If it is, and, in order to proceed farther with regard to the same subject-matter, a new action or proceeding must be commenced, then, as a general rule, the judgment which ends the particular action or proceeding is final for the purposes of an appeal, if an appeal is permissible at all.

The court then stated:

Although that language is only dicta as it pertains to this case, other jurisdictions have applied comparable analyses to a dismissal of a complaint without prejudice. The general rule seems to be whether the effect of the ruling is to finally resolve the issues.

In the instant case, plaintiffs contend that the dismissal was on the "legal merits of plaintiff's action." They claim that until that ruling is reviewed, they cannot move further. We agree. The trial court's ruling does go to the legal merits of any cause plaintiffs may frame and hence it is appealable.

652 P.2d at 1345 (Emphasis added; footnote omitted).

Therefore, the criteria referred to by the Court on which it is determined whether an order is final and, therefore, appealable are:

(1) Whether the particular proceeding or action is terminated by the order such that plaintiffs must commence a new action if they desire to proceed further with regard to the same subject matter;

(2) Whether the effect of the ruling is to finally resolve the issues; and

(3) Whether the ruling goes to the legal merits of any cause of action which plaintiffs may frame.

The gist of plaintiffs' Complaint in the instant case is that defendants failed to follow the legal procedures required to effect a merger of CVDA into IMPA, for which plaintiffs seek (1) to represent all CVDA members and/or equity holders as a class under Rule 23 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, (2) damages suffered by the class or, in the alternative, (3) rescission of the merger.

The trial court, in its Memorandum Decision, ruled that there had been no merger but that there had been a transfer of the assets of CVDA to IMPA "putting members or producers in CVDA in a position where they may have a cause of action for monetary damage by reason of the elimination of all of the assets of CVDA which destroys the value of their equity rights." The trial court, in its Order, therefore leaves it open to plaintiffs to pursue claims for damages "for the destruction or diminution, if any, of the value of Plaintiffs' equity interests, as a result of wrongful transfer of CVDA's assets to IMPA . . . ." Such damages are, in part, the very damages plaintiffs are seeking as set forth in paragraph D, page 9 of plaintiffs' Verified Complaint, where they ask "for a judgment against the Defendants, jointly and severally, for damages of not less than \$55,000,000.00 as and for the complete and total destruction of the Plaintiffs' equity in CVDA . . . . "

Admittedly, the result of CVDA's transfer of its assets to IMPA is that CVDA is out of business, and in several places in plaintiffs' Verified Complaint they refer to the alleged wrongful

transfer of the assets and to the resulting loss of CVDA's business. For example, plaintiffs' claim that "as a result of said Defendants' illegal<sup>s</sup> and willful and wanton actions, certain assets and equity of CVDA have been transferred, mortgaged, sold, lien<sup>d</sup>ed, assigned or otherwise seriously impaired" (paragraph 36 on page 7) and further claim that "said Defendants by appropriating the successful business of CVDA have deprived it of the opportunity of further financial benefit and gain in continuing the operation of the business" (paragraph 38 on page 7). All of those claims are left open by the trial court for plaintiffs to pursue individually if they can show that the transfer of the assets, which has admittedly occurred, was wrongful and they were damaged by it.

Therefore, even though the trial court refused to entertain plaintiffs' request for rescission, it left open their claim for monetary damages. And, while the Court denied the plaintiffs' request for class certification, it authorized plaintiffs to assert such claims for damages as the plaintiffs, themselves, may have. Therefore, in contrast to the facts in the Bowles case,

(1) the "particular" action in the instant case was not "terminated" by the court's order. Not only is the district court's order "without prejudice" but plaintiffs, in order to proceed farther, do not have to commence "a new action" but merely have to amend their complaint (which the district court expressly authorized them to do).

(2) The order did not "finally resolve the issues." Among the issues which have not been decided by the trial court are (a) whether the defendants acted wrongfully in transferring the assets of CVDA to IMPA, (b) whether any such wrongful transfer has caused any damage to plaintiffs, and, if so, (c) the amount of any such damages.

(3) The plaintiffs here are not precluded from proceeding farther because the trial court's ruling does not "go to the legal merits of any cause plaintiffs may frame." Plaintiffs may still frame a cause of action for damages for wrongful transfer of CVDA's assets as referred to above.

Therefore, based on the criteria set forth in the Bowles case, the order of the district court from which plaintiffs in the instant case are appealing is not a "final order" from which an appeal may be taken.

#### Point II

#### THE REFUSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT TO CERTIFY A CLASS ACTION IS AN INTERLOCUTORY ORDER

The issue of whether a plaintiff may appeal an order of the trial court refusing to permit a class action was not involved in the Utah cases cited above and is dealt with here separately.

Federal law is persuasive on this issue because in the federal courts the right of appeal from a federal district court to a court of appeals is, similarly, based on whether the district court action represents a final decision. Section 1291 of Title 28 of the United States Code states that "The courts of

appeals . . . shall have jurisdiction of appeals from all final decisions of the district courts of the United States . . . except where a direct review may be had in the Supreme Court. . . ." (Emphasis added.)

In the instant case the trial court's order denied plaintiff's request for class certification, but it is clear under Federal law that an order certifying or refusing to certify a class action is interlocutory in nature; such an order is merged into the final judgment and is, therefore, subject to appellate review at the time of appeal from the final judgment. Coopers & Lybrand v. Livesay, 437 U.S. 463, 57 L. Ed. 2d 351, 98 Sup. Ct. 2454 (1978); Weil v. Investment/Indicators, Research and Management, Inc., 647 F.2d 18 (9th Cir. 1981); 7B Wright, Miller & Kane, FEDERAL PRACTICE AND PROCEDURE § 1802 (2d ed. 1986); 6 FEDERAL PROCEDURE - Lawyers Edition § 12:295 (1982); 3B Moore's FEDERAL PRACTICE § 23.97 (2d ed. 1948; 1987 replacement pages).

Notwithstanding the fact that an order denying class certification is not a final order, there was a conflict in the federal circuits as to whether such an order should be appealable anyway if, under the circumstances, the individual plaintiff would not pursue a complex action for the chance of only a small recovery. In that situation, it was argued, the order refusing to certify the class sounded the "death knell" of the litigation. The Supreme Court case of Coopers & Lybrand v. Livesay, supra, resolved that conflict in the circuits by holding that the "death knell" doctrine did not apply and that orders relating to class

certification are not independently appealable under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 prior to final judgment.

In the Coopers & Lybrand case, plaintiffs purchased securities in reliance on a prospectus containing financial statements certified by defendant. The financial statements were not accurate, and plaintiffs sold their securities at a loss of \$2,650.00. Plaintiffs filed the action on behalf of themselves and a class of similarly situated purchasers. The district court first certified and then, after further proceedings, decertified the class. Plaintiffs then filed a notice of appeal, and the court of appeals, after looking at the small amount of plaintiffs' claim in relation to their financial resources and the probable cost of the litigation, concluded that plaintiffs would not pursue their claim individually. The court therefore viewed the decertification of the class as a "final decision" under the "death knell" doctrine.

The Supreme Court reversed and directed the court of appeals to dismiss plaintiffs' appeal, holding that the "death knell" doctrine should not be applied in order to treat orders relating to class certification as final decisions and that such orders are, therefore, not independently appealable under 28 U.S.C. § 1291 prior to judgment. The Court stated:

[I]f the "death knell" doctrine has merit, it would apply equally to the many interlocutory orders in ordinary litigation -- rulings on discovery, on venue, on summary judgment--that may have such tactical economic significance that a defeat is tantamount to a "death knell" for the entire case.

Though a refusal to certify a class is inherently interlocutory, it may induce a plaintiff to abandon his individual claim. On the other hand, the litigation will often survive an adverse class determination. What effect the economic disincentives created by an interlocutory order may have on the fate of any litigation will depend on a variety of factors.

98 Sup. Ct. at 2459 (Footnote omitted.)

The court indicated that to require an appellate court to undertake a thorough study of the possible impact of the class order on the fate of the litigation before determining whether the order is appealable would have a serious debilitating effect on the administration of justice. The court continued:

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